IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 93,056

BRYAN FREDRICK JENNINGS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Attorney at Law Florida Bar No. 0754773 9701 Shore Rd. Apt. 1-D Brooklyn, NY 11209 (718) 748-2332

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

This is a case of admitted constitutional error. In postconviction, the State conceded that numerous constitutional
errors occurred during Mr. Jennings' trial: 1) a taped statement
of a witness describing Mr. Jennings' extreme state of
intoxication on the night of the murder was erroneously not
disclosed to Mr. Jennings' trial counsel; 2) a letter to the
State Attorney from Clarence Muszynski requesting consideration
for his assistance in the trial against Mr. Jennings was not
turned over to the defense; 2) over objection the penalty phase
jury received unconstitutional instructions on the "heinous,
atrocious or cruel" aggravating factor [hereafter HAC]; 2 and 4)
over objection the penalty phase jury also received

¹The State's expert, Dr. Burton Podnos, testified that to evaluate Mr. Jennings' mental state at the time of the offense, it was necessary to "draw more information from observation of what happened" (R. 1532-33). Dr. Podnos did find Mr. Jennings to be of impaired judgment (R. 1519). However, he explained that he had insufficient evidence to conclude Mr. Jennings' was under the influence of alcohol and/or LSD on the night of the offense. Podnos was unaware of the Judy Slocum taped statement. Podnos' conclusions were based upon Mr. Jennings' "statements" about the facts of the crime (R. 1514, 1537). Thus, Clarence Muszynski's testimony and statement that Mr. Jennings told him, in graphic detail, what happened during the crime was significant to Dr. Podnos' conclusion that Mr. Jennings was not intoxicated or otherwise under the influence of an extreme mental condition or emotional disturbance. In turn, the sentencing judge relied upon Muszynski's account in rejecting the testimony of two (2) defense mental health experts who identified statutory and nonstatutory mitigating factors at the penalty phase (R. 3463).

²The sentencing judge found HAC present. However, in post-conviction proceedings it was established that evidence was available that the victim was rendered unconscious virtually immediately and "was unconscious from then on" and that this evidence was never presented to the judge or jury (PC-R2 782).

unconstitutional instructions on the "cold, calculated and premeditated" aggravating factor [hereafter CCP].³

As to these admitted constitutional errors, the State successfully argued to the circuit court that this Court's affirmance of the summary denial of Mr. Jennings 1989 motion to vacate⁴ precluded consideration of the discovery violations discussed therein during the circuit court's review of the 1997 amended motion to vacate. Thus, no cumulative consideration was given, as part of the circuit court's determination, to whether the evidence of other discovery violations and/or ineffective assistance of counsel warranted a new trial or new penalty phase.

As to the jury instructions errors, the State convinced the circuit court to rule that the erroneous HAC instruction was harmless. The State also successfully argued that Mr. Jennings' challenge to the CCP instruction was procedurally barred due to an alleged failure by Mr. Jennings to raise the issue on direct appeal. However, in proceedings held prior to this Court's ruling in <u>Jackson v. State</u>⁵, the State had argued that Mr. Jennings' CCP jury instruction challenge was "th[e] same issue [] previously raised on direct appeal" (SPC-R2. 535). In fact, in

³The trial judge found CCP present stating that "[f]rom the initial abduction to the final premeditated act of drowning her, Defendant's acts represented a cold and calculated indifference to the feelings or life of Rebecca Kunash." (R. 3461). However, the State's expert, Dr. Podnos, testified that the offense "started as an impulse" (R. 1513), thus finding that there was no pre-existing plan.

⁴<u>Jennings v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 1991).

⁵648 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1994).

its Answer Brief on direct appeal, the State specifically addressed the trial court's refusal to give Mr. Jennings' proffered expanded CCP instruction (Answer Brief at 39).

Mr. Jennings was convicted of the murder of Rebecca Kunash. The State's case against Mr. Jennings rested primarily upon the testimony of Clarence Muszynski, a jailhouse informant who claimed that Mr. Jennings gave him a detailed confession to the Muszynski claimed, among other things, that Mr. Jennings murder. said the victim was screaming and trying to scratch him as she was removed from the house (R. 637). Muszynski demonstrated during his testimony how he claimed Mr. Jennings said to have grabbed the victim by the ankles and slammed her head against the curb (R. 637). Muszynski also claimed that Mr. Jennings told him that the victim started coming to while he was raping her (R. 639). The defense sought to suppress Muszynski's testimony by arguing that he was an unlawful agent of the State. Despite a long history of obtaining confessions in jail from fellow inmates, Muszynski in the Jennings case maintained that he obtained Jennings' confession and took it to the State without any expectation of gaining benefit.

The State attempted to corroborate Muszynski's testimony by introducing the prior testimony of another jailhouse informant, Allen Kruger. Kruger was deceased by the time of the 1986 trial. The State contended that Kruger came forward before Muszynski and had alerted the State to Muszynski as a possible witness. Thus the State contended that Kruger's testimony corroborated

Muszynski's. Kruger's failure to testify to the graphic details that marked Muszynski's testimony was explained by the State to have resulted from Kruger's having come forward first, having been removed from that area of the jail, and thus having not been in a position to overhear subsequent conversations between Mr. Jennings and Mr. Muszynski. As to the presence of aggravating circumstances and the absence of mitigating circumstances, the State relied on Muszynski's testimony. As a result, Muszynski's testimony regarding Mr. Jennings' statement was the lynchpin of the State's call for a sentence of death.

Further, the judge relied on Muszynski's testimony as the

⁶The prosecutor's notes summarizing Kruger's statement indicated that after the victim was dropped from the bedroom window "she was laying there but not dead" (PC-R2. 777). Kruger gave no indication that the victim was thereafter ever conscious or semi-conscious.

⁷Another jailhouse informant, Billy Ray Crisco, was also called by the State to testify. Mr. Crisco, who knew both Muszynski and Kruger, testified that in 1979, Mr. Jennings admitted the homicide to him. Mr. Crisco's testimony was relatively brief; his testimony did not provide the graphic and prejudicial details that characterized Mr. Muszynski's testimony. And Mr. Crisco specifically recalled that the victim was rendered unconscious virtually immediately (See Deposition of Billy Crisco; PC-R2. 800). However, no one asked about this during Crisco's trial testimony and he did not volunteer the information that the victim was rendered unconscious (PC-R2. 782).

In the circuit court proceedings, the State conceded that there were "conflicting statements as to whether or not in fact she was conscious during the entire episode." (IA-R. 27) and acknowledged that resolution of the question of whether the victim was conscious "depends on which version of those facts you believe" (IA-R. 28).

But has since conceded that Muszinski's testimony conflicts with testimony of other witnesses and that factual conclusions as to what to believe happened depends upon "which version of the facts you believe" (IA-R 28).

basis for finding two (2) of three (3) aggravating factors found: "heinous, atrocious or cruel" and "cold, calculated and premeditated." This same testimony was used to refute mitigation, particularly to rebut whether Mr. Jennings' mental state was impaired and whether he suffered from any mental or emotional disturbance. The State's mental health experts told the jury, that to resolve the issue of substantial impairment, they must consider the "account" of what happened (R. 1532-33). Thus, Muszynski's testimony was used to try to establish that Mr. Jennings' recall was too clear and his dexterity at the time of the homicide too nimble for him to have been under the influence of or impaired by alcohol. On this basis, in his sentencing order the judge found no mitigation.

Evidence impeaching Mr. Muszynski, either directly by challenging his motive to testify, and/or indirectly by demonstrating that Mr. Jennings was extremely intoxicated, would have been doubly valuable. Such evidence would have lessened the weight of the thumbs Muszynski placed on the death side of the scales and helped the defense restore thumbs to the life side of the scales that Muszynski's testimony was used to remove. See Stringer v. Black, 503 U.S. 222, 232 (1992).

At the 1997 evidentiary hearing, Mr. Jennings presented evidence of additional discovery violations. This evidence included discovery violations regarding State witness Allen Kruger. Newly disclosed Chapter 119 materials included a summary of a prosecution interview of Kruger prior to the second trial.

This summary reveals that contrary to the State's position in the third trial, Kruger came to light after Muszynski and not before. This version of events was the recollection of the prosecutor from the second trial, the very person who made the written notes summarizing the interview of Kruger. As Mr. Jennings' trial attorney, Mr. Vincent Howard explained, this version contradicts the State's claims at the third trial and would have been helpful, favorable and exculpatory evidence to Mr. Jennings (PC-R2. 1027, 1031-33). The summary of Kruger's statement indicated that Kruger was present when Muszynski questioned Mr. Jennings. Therefore that there were no graphic and highly prejudicial details in Kruger's original statement to the police would have directly impeached Muszynski's testimony that Mr. Jennings told him those graphic and damning details of the homicide. Again, trial counsel testified that the undisclosed summary of Kruger's statement would have been very useful to the defense in impeaching both Kruger and Muszynski. Mr. Howard testified that because this undisclosed information conflicted with the State's evidence at trial about who came forward when with what information, it would have been helpful because it would have provided a basis for him to rebut the state's case with argument such as that Muszynski used Kruger to strengthen his bargaining position. It also would have provided support for Mr. Howard's belief and Mr. Jennings' position that Muszynski was in fact an agent of the state (PC-R2. 1031).

Also in the previously undisclosed notes was a summary of

Mr. Crisco's statement which indicated that the victim was rendered unconscious almost immediately and remained unconscious (PC-R2. 1020). Because neither the State nor defense counsel elicited this testimony from Crisco at trial, the judge and jury were unaware of this discrepancy in the inmate witnesses' stories.

In concluding that these non-disclosures were "not favorable evidence which was suppressed or would have changed the outcome of the trial" (PC-R2. 776), the circuit court failed to conduct the proper analysis required by Lightbourne v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S375 (July 8, 1999) and Young v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S277 (June 10, 1999). Erroneously, no cumulative consideration of these non-disclosures, together with the non-disclosures discussed by this Court in its 1991 Jennings opinion, was made below.

Similarly, after hearing evidence regarding trial counsel's ineffective assistance, the circuit court failed to properly evaluate the claim as required by <u>State v. Gunsby</u>, 670 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 1996). Trial counsel made a note to his file to contact Annis Music regarding testifying, yet he for no reason failed to contact her (PC-R2. 1053-54). As a result, he never learned or presented the fact that, a very inebriated Bryan Jennings, twice spoke to her in the early morning hours before the homicide to

⁹Jennings v. State, 583 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 1991).

try to get her to give him a ride home because he was too drunk¹⁰ (PC-R2. 954-56). Had counsel contact Annis Music, he would have also learned that her husband Patrick Clawson was available to testify. Trial counsel testified that he had wanted to call Mr. Clawson was a witness to Mr. Jennings' intoxicated state, but did not do so because he believed that Clawson was out of the country and unavailable (PC-R2. 1068).¹¹ Mr. Clawson, who had been with Mr. Jennings and had observed his level of intoxication, was thus not presented to testify (PC-R2. 968).

No consideration was given, by the circuit court, to the cumulative effect on the reliability of Mr. Jennings' death sentence of the numerous State non-disclosures together with trial counsel's deficiencies. Because of the non-disclosures and trial counsel's deficient performance, extra thumbs were placed on the death side of the scales, while available thumbs for the life side of the scales went unplaced there. As a result the outcome of the penalty phase is not constitutionally reliable.

The trial courts' giving, over defense objection, unconstitutionally defective instructions defining two of three aggravators, further exacerbates the unreliability of the proceedings. The jury was never properly apprized of what

¹⁰It is clear that Ms. Music's testimony refutes the existence of a heightened premeditation necessary for CCP because is shows that Mr. Jennings was trying to get a ride home at 2:30 a.m.

¹¹Annis Music and Patrick Clawson would have both testified to Mr. Jennings' intoxication and thus helped the defense prove a mitigating circumstance that the trial judge specifically found it had failed to establish.

evidence was necessary for the State to prove the HAC and CCP aggravating factors. The prejudicial effect on the jury deliberations of the deficiencies in the instructions was amplified by the fact that evidence relevant to the elements of the aggravating factors was not considered by the jury because of the State's non-disclosures and trial counsel's deficient performance. 12

¹²An example of the circuit court's improper compartmentalization of the constitutional errors into a series of small harmless errors is the statement made in the course of the circuit court's CCP analysis that "[e]ven if the error was preserved, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the other aggravators and the finding of no mitigation" (PC-R2. 785). In this analysis, the circuit court overlooked: 1) Dr. Podnos' testimony that the crime began on impulse (R. 1513); 2) the Judy Slocum tape establishing a mitigating circumstance; 3) evidence that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present a wealth of available mitigating evidence, including the testimony of Annis Music and Patrick Clawson which corroborated Judy Slocum's taped statement; 4) that the jury instruction on HAC was constitutionally defective; and 5) the court's own related conclusion, when addressing Mr. Jennings' Brady claim, that the victim was in fact unconscious.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

Mr. Jennings was charged by indictment on May 16, 1979, in Brevard County, Florida with three counts of first degree murder (even though there was only one deceased), kidnapping, three counts of sexual battery, burglary, and aggravated battery. Trial commenced on February 4, 1980, and concluded on February 11, 1980. Mr. Jennings was found guilty as charged and sentenced to death. On direct appeal, this Court vacated the judgment and sentence and ordered a new trial. <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 24, 27 (Fla. 1982).

On June 11, 1982, Mr. Jennings was re-indicted in Brevard County and again charged with three counts of first-degree murder, kidnapping, three counts of sexual battery, burglary, and aggravated battery. Mr. Jennings was convicted and again sentenced to death. This Court affirmed both the convictions and sentence. Jennings v. State, 453 So. 2d 1110 (Fla. 1984). On certiorari review, the United States Supreme Court vacated the judgment and remanded the case in light of Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981). Jennings v. Florida, 470 U.S. 1002 (1985). In turn, this Court remanded for a new trial. Jennings v. State, 473 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1985).

Pursuant to a change of venue, the third trial commenced in Bay County, Florida, on March 24, 1986, and concluded on March 27, 1986. The jury returned a verdict finding Mr. Jennings guilty of the three counts of first degree murder (this despite

the fact that there was one deceased), kidnapping, one count of sexual battery, and burglary of a dwelling.

The penalty phase was conducted on April 7 and 8, 1986. Over objection, the penalty phase jury was given the then standard jury instructions regarding the "specially wicked, evil, atrocious, or cruel" and "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravating circumstances (R. 1699). Mr. Jennings requested special jury 6instructions defining the elements of the "cold, calculated and premeditated" and "heinousness, atrocious or cruel" aggravating factors. The trial court denied those requests (R. 1646-53). Mr. Jennings also raised specific challenges to the adequacy of the jury instructions (R. 1648). These challenges went to the actual wording of the instructions not solely to the applicability of these factors to the case. For example, trial counsel argued that in order for the jury to understand the "heinous, cruel and atrocious" aggravator, the interpretation given in Dixon v. State, 283 So. 2d 1, 9 (1973), was necessary (R. 1648). The trial court noted that the word "heinous" might be confusing to the jurors, but ultimately denied Mr. Jennings' request that the proposed instructions be given (R. 1651). Mr. Jennings' counsel similarly argued that additional quidance was necessary as to "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravating circumstance. However, the trial court rejected that argument and request also. Thus, Mr. Jennings' jury was never advised of the limitations on these aggravating factors. Jennings' trial counsel timely filed the following proposed HAC

instruction:

In considering whether the crime committed by the defendant was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, you are instructed that heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil; that atrocious means outrageously wicked and vile, and that cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain with utter indifference to, or even, enjoyment of, the suffering of others. What is intended to be included are those capital crimes where the actual commission of the capital felony was accompanied by such additional acts as to set the crime apart from the norm of capital felonies - the consciousness or pitiless crime which is unnecessarily torturous to the victim.

(R. 3443).

And further proposed this CCP language:

The alleged aggravating circumstances, that the capital felony is a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification, was not intended by the legislature to apply to all cases of premeditated murder. Rather, this circumstance exists where facts show, beyond a reasonable doubt, that there was a particularly lengthy, methodical or involved series of events, or a substantial period of reflection and thought by the perpetrator.

(R. 3444).

Over objection, the penalty phase jury was instead given the then standard jury instructions regarding the aggravating circumstances of "especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel" and "cold, calculated and premeditated" (R. 1699). The jury recommended a sentence of death.

On April 25, 1986, the trial court imposed a sentence of death finding three aggravators: 1) committed in the course a felony, 2) HAC, and 3) CCP.

In support of HAC the sentencing court made the following factual recitation arising from the testimony of Muszynski:

In the course of events, he lifted Rebecca by her legs,

brought her back over his head, and swung her like a sledgehammer onto the ground fracturing her skull and causing extensive damage to her brain. While she was still alive, Defendant took her into the canal and held her under the water until she drowned.

In support of CCP, the sentencing court made the following recitation arising from the testimony of Muszynski:

At that time he made a conscious decision to enter her room and did so. Rebecca Kunash offered no threat to the Defendant. From the initial abduction to the final premeditated act of drowning her, Defendant's acts represented a cold and calculated indifference to the feelings or life of Rebecca Kunash.

On his third direct appeal this Court affirmed both the verdicts of guilt and sentence of death. <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 512 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 1987). During the appeal challenges were raised as to the adequacy of the jury instructions on the aggravating circumstances. Point XIII of the Appellant's Initial Brief dealt exclusively with the trial court's denial of all the jury instructions requested by Mr. Jennings in arguing that "[d]efense counsel filed numerous written requests for special jury instructions at the penalty phase" (Initial Brief at 67).

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