IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRYAN FREDRICK JENNINGS,

Appellee,

v.

CASE NO. 93,056

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant.

____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

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

¹⁴

In his brief, Jennings alleges that the note "omit - no agency proof" refers to witness Kruger. In the trial court, Jennings argued that that note referred to witness Muszynski, and the trial court decided that claim adversely to Jennings. (TR 778-79). Jennings cannot now change his "theory".

to add to his proof of the defendant's intoxication as a mitigating factor. Although this contention is not unexpected at this juncture of these proceedings, it is, nevertheless, belied by the record.

without doubt, the defendant First, had knowledge not only of Slocum's name but also the subject matter of her knowledge about the Not only was Jennings aware of her case. participation in the evening's events, defense aware of the statement of Russell was Schneider that Judy Slocum drove Bryan to his mother's house at about 11:30-12:00 p.m. to change his pants because his zipper was broken and that Jennings had been drinking large amounts of beer. Defense was also aware of the statement of Charles Clawson that Jennings had a girl drive him over to his mother's house about 10:00-11:00 p.m. because he felt he was unable to drive. Is it surprising, then, that Slocum's statement indicates that she drove Jennings home to change his pants because his zipper was broken and that he appeared "much loaded"? The Slocum statement merely confirmed the Schneider and Clawson statements.

All three statements, however, seem less significant than another statement known to the defense. Floyd Canada stated that he was with Jennings up to a few minutes before the murder occurred. He stated that he observed Jennings and a couple of other guys share four or five pitchers of beer at the Barleycorn and that Jennings was pretty loaded by around two o'clock. He then went with Jennings to the Booby Trap where they continued to drink until around 4:30 a.m. Jennings passed out in Canada's car on to the way back the Barleycorn. When they reached the Barleycorn, Jennings had trouble getting out of Canada's car and then staggered towards his own car. If defense counsel were truly interested in an intoxication defense, how could he ignore the Canada testimony and yet claim prejudice because he was not given the Slocum statement? The fact is that intoxication was never

intended to be a part of Jennings' defense strategy. Defense counsel stated on more than one occasion, "The issue in this case is identity."

Defense requested and received a charge on intoxication not because it put on a case for intoxication, but because of the almost incidental testimony of Mrs. Danna, Jennings' mother, during the state's case. She testified that during the early morning hours of the day of the murder, she was awakened by Mrs. Music who told her that Jennings had come home drunk, almost knocked a picture off the wall, and went out again in search of cigarettes. This was the defense's total intoxication defense.

Mrs. Music, who observed the "drunk" Jennings and reported it to her sister, was not called. Neither Canada (nor his deposition if he were unavailable) nor Schneider were offered for this defense. Donna Clement, who heard her aunt, Catherine Music, talking to Jennings at about 6:00 a.m. and asking him if he were drunk, was not called. Charles Clawson, who was with Jennings until 2:30 a.m. at the Barleycorn and was aware that Jennings asked Slocum to drive him home because he felt he was unable to drive, was not called. It is inconceivable that had the state disclosed Slocum's statement, which merely confirms that which the record reflects she would have said, the theory of the defense would have changed.

(Footnotes omitted.) We agree with the trial court's analysis of the effect the tape would have had on the trial. The trial court properly rejected this claim because there was not a reasonable probability that the tape would have caused a different outcome at the trial. See Duest v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 849 (Fla.1990).

Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d 316, 318-9 (Fla. 1991). This Court has already affirmed the resolution of the claim concerning the Slocum tape, and Jennings cannot relitigate that claim in this proceeding.¹⁵

15

On page 58 of his brief, Jennings argues that he is entitled to relief based upon the "non-disclosure" of a letter from Muszynski to the State Attorney seeking appointment of counsel. This claim is not available to Jennings because it has previously been rejected by this Court. In its 1991 opinion in this case, this Court held:

We reject without discussion Jennings' remaining claims, listed below, brought in his rule 3.850 motion:

(1) The state violated *Brady* by withholding a letter from Clarence Muszynski requesting the appointment of an attorney.

Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d at 322. Any claim relating to the Muszinski letter has already been resolved adversely to Jennings, and cannot be relitigated in this proceeding. Moreover, because this Court expressly rejected the claim, there is no "cumulative error" to consider.

Jennings also argues, on page 58 of his brief, that "other suspects information" should have been turned over to him. In deciding this claim adversely to Jennings, the trial court pointed out that the State is not required to provide the defense with every piece of information regarding other suspects, and went on to

To the extent that Jennings' claim is that the non-disclosure of the Slocum tape is an "error" that must be factored into the "cumulative error" analysis, there is no legal basis for that claim. There is no rule of law that requires that a claim that has been **rejected** as a basis for relief can somehow become error that must be "cumulatively" evaluated. Such a theory has no legal basis.

It has been alleged that the defense could have used the information regarding these suspects in its defense; the evidence negates this contention. "If a defendant's purpose is to shift suspicion from himself to another person, evidence of past criminal conduct of that other person should be of such nature that it would be admissible if that person were on trial for the present offense." [citations omitted]. The information contained in the notecards would not have been admissible.

Defense counsel, testifying at the evidentiary hearing on this matter, stated:

...with that one exception [the notecard referring to Debra Greg meeting a guy at the beach on 5/10/79 who had a gash on his leg] (See Exhibit "I", Notecard) none of the other field interrogation cards gave you enough or any substance to really related it to this particular offense, and, when you have the circumstance of an identified person, because, you know, a couple of them did have identified persons, I run into the problem that this person does not have fingerprints on or near the house. I run into the problem that this person may well have an alibi, I don't know.

The relevance or actually the usefulness, I'll put it that way, to the defense at that particular suspect as I pointed out, it's phantom suspect. It's not -- it gives me somebody I can argue did it, and you guys can't show that he didn't.

Even if the evidence would have been admissible, there is not a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed, the result of the proceeding would have been different.(FN)

(FN) The evidence introduced at trial was that: the Defendant's fingerprints were found on the bedroom window; a shoe print that matched his shoes was found in the adjoining field; the Defendant confessed to three witnesses (Muszynski, Kruger, Crisco); the Defendant wrote a letter to Muszynski

find:

indicating he had confessed to Kruger; testimony that the defendant's clothes were wet that morning -- had fallen in a canal; evidence of abrasions to the defendant's penis.

(TR780-81). The findings of the Rule 3.850 trial court are supported by competent substantial evidence, and should be affirmed in all respects.

On pages 58-72 of his brief, Jennings raises what appears to be a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that seems to be pleaded as an alternative claim to the *Brady* claim. In the context of this case, the *Brady* claim is exclusive of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel -- Jennings should elect the theory he wishes to base his claim upon. *Roberts v. State*, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990). The mutually exclusive nature of *Brady* and ineffectiveness claims is a sufficient basis for denial of relief on the ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

The ineffective assistance of counsel claim is also not available to Jennings because it is outside of the scope of this Court's remand order. Specifically, this Court ruled (in the 1991 opinion) that:

Therefore, in accordance with *Provenzano v. Dugger* [citation omitted], the two-year time limitation of rule 3.850 shall be extended for sixty days from the date of the disclosure solely for the purpose of providing Jennings with the time to file any new *Brady* claims that may arise from the disclosure of the files.

Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d at 319. [emphasis added]. This Court did not remand this case for the purpose of allowing Jennings to

raise **new** claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, nor did this Court remand this case to allow Jennings to relitigate ineffectiveness claims that have already been decided adversely to him. Jennings attempts to do both in his brief, and both "claims" are outside of the scope of this court's order remanding this case. Because that is true, the **new** ineffective assistance of counsel claims are time-barred, and the old ineffectiveness claims (which have been previously adjudicated adversely to Jennings) are not subject to relitigation.

To the extent that further discussion of the ineffective assistance of counsel component of this claim is necessary, the Rule 3.850 trial court decided the "cumulative error" ineffectiveness claim adversely to Jennings based upon the record and the evidence. (TR786). That finding is supported by competent substantial evidence, and should be affirmed in all respects.¹⁶

To the extent that Jennings raises a claim concerning the Billy Crisco statement, the Rule 3.850 trial court found that there was no "false testimony" presented through Crisco. (TR782). Jennings' claim simply has no factual basis, as the trial court found. Because that finding is supported by competent substantial evidence, it should not be disturbed.

Of course, as set out above, a number of the specifications of ineffective assistance of counsel were addressed in this Court's 1991 opinion, and are not available to Jennings for relitigation. See, Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d at 319-21.

II. THE PENALTY PHASE JURY INSTRUCTION CLAIM

On pages 73-89 of his brief, Jennings argues that the Rule 3.850 trial court erroneously denied relief on his claims that the jury instructions on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel and cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstances were unconstitutionally vague. The trial court found that any error as to the jury instruction on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the aggravator was established under any definition of the aggravating circumstance. (TR784). As to the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator, the court found that the claim concerning the jury instruction was not preserved by timely objection, but, even if it had been, any error was harmless under the facts. (TR785). Those findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, and should be affirmed in all respects. Moreover, this claim is outside the scope of this Court's order remanding this case, and, further, this Court decided the jury instruction claims adversely to Jennings in his prior collateral attack proceeding when it found them procedurally barred. Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d at 322. He is not entitled to relitigate those claims, nor was the trial court obligated to address them. Jennings has already lost on these claims, and that is a sufficient basis for the denial of relief.

To the extent that further discussion of the aggravators is necessary, this Court's direct appeal decision is dispositive. In

that proceeding, this Court held:

Appellant's fifth and sixth points are that, in sentencing appellant to death, the trial court improperly applied the aggravating circumstances that the murder was "heinous, atrocious, and cruel," and that the murder was "committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner." We disagree with the appellant that under the facts of this case and this Court's definition of "heinous, atrocious, and cruel," the trial court erred in finding this aggravating circumstance. We agree that the mindset or mental anguish of the victim is an important aggravating factor in determining whether the circumstance of heinous, atrocious, and cruel applies. It is not, however, the sole controlling factor as illustrated by our decisions in Proffitt v. State, 315 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1975), and Spenkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 911, 96 S.Ct. 3227, 49 L.Ed.2d 1221 (1976). As important is the totality of the circumstances of the incident and whether they reflect that this was a conscienceless, pitiless, and unnecessarily torturous crime that sets it apart from the norm of capital felonies. State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973). We find that this case is similar to Buford v. State, 403 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1163, 102 S.Ct. 1037, 71 L.Ed.2d 319 (1982), which also involved the murder and sexual assault of a young girl who was kidnapped from her home during the night. We do not find that our recent decision in Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1983), should apply. Under the totality of the circumstances, and applying our decisions to the facts in the instant case, we find that trial court properly applied the aggravating the circumstance of heinous, atrocious, and cruel.

We also find that the trial court properly applied the aggravating circumstance that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. The evidence shows that appellant located his victim, left, and then returned a short time later to enter the victim's home through her bedroom window and take her from her bed. His subsequent conduct in brutally fracturing her skull and then drowning her in the manner previously described establishes the heightened premeditation required for finding this aggravating circumstance.

Jennings v. State, 453 So.2d 1109, 1115 (Fla. 1984). As this Court

has previously found, both the heinous, atrocious, or cruel and the cold, calculated, and premeditated¹⁷ aggravating circumstances are well established by the evidence. The Rule 3.850 trial court should be affirmed in all respects.

To the extent that Jennings alleges that there is an "intent element" to the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator, that claim is foreclosed by binding precedent. *See, Guzman v. State*, 721 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1998). To the extent that Jennings argues that his claim concerning the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator was properly preserved at the time of direct appeal, the Rule 3.850 trial court made alternative findings regarding that issue and found that, even if the cold, calculated, and premeditated claim **was** properly preserved, it was not a basis for relief because any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (TR785). That finding is correct, and should be affirmed in all respects. There is no basis for relief.

III. THE JUROR INTERVIEW CLAIM

On pages 89-92 of his brief, Jennings argues that he is entitled to some unspecified relief based upon the *Rule Regulating the Florida Bar* 4-3.5(d)(4) prohibition against post-trial juror interviews. This claim is not a basis for relief for the following

To the extent that the trial court commented on the "heightened premeditation" component of the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator, this Court has already found that the requisite level of premeditation exists. *Jennings v. State*, 453 So.2d at 1115.

reasons.

The first reason that this claim is not a basis for relief is because it is not within the scope of this Court's remand order, and, consequently, is untimely. See page 11, above. This claim was raised for the first time in the post-remand pleadings, even though it has existed at least since the time of Jennings' trial, and could have been raised on direct appeal, or in Jennings' prior Rule 3.850 motion. The facts establish that this claim could have been raised long ago, and is now time-barred under settled law. *Zeigler v. State*, 654 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 1995).

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